Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: September 13, 2016 ACCEPTED: October 11, 2016 PUBLISHED: October 19, 2016

Late-time structure of the Bunch-Davies FRW wavefunction

George Konstantinidis,^a Raghu Mahajan^a and Edgar Shaghoulian^b

E-mail: cgcoss@stanford.edu, rm89@stanford.edu, edgars@physics.ucsb.edu

ABSTRACT: In this short note we organize a perturbation theory for the Bunch-Davies wavefunction in flat, accelerating cosmologies. The calculational technique avoids the in-in formalism and instead uses an analytic continuation from Euclidean signature. We will consider both massless and conformally coupled self-interacting scalars. These calculations explicitly illustrate two facts. The first is that IR divergences get sharper as the acceleration slows. The second is that UV-divergent contact terms in the Euclidean computation can contribute to the absolute value of the wavefunction in Lorentzian signature. Here UV divergent refers to terms involving inverse powers of the radial cutoff in the Euclidean computation. In Lorentzian signature such terms encode physical time dependence of the wavefunction.

KEYWORDS: Gauge-gravity correspondence, Effective field theories

ARXIV EPRINT: 1608.06163



^a Stanford Institute for Theoretical Physics, Stanford University, 382 via Pueblo, Stanford CA, U.S.A.

^bDepartment of Physics, University of California Santa Barbara, Santa Barbara CA, U.S.A.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Massless self-interacting scalar	3
	2.1 Propagators	5
	2.2 Tree-level diagram for the four-point function	6
	2.3 One-loop diagram for the two-point function	7
3	Conformally coupled scalar	8
	3.1 Tree-level diagram	8
	3.2 One-loop diagram	10
	3.3 <i>L</i> -loop diagram	10
4	Conclusions	11
A	Conformally coupled scalar in general dimension	12
	A.1 Tree-level diagram	12
	A.2 <i>L</i> -Loop diagram	12
в	"Conformally massive" scalar	12

1 Introduction

Infrared divergences have a long and controversial history in the context of cosmology. Inflationary calculations often utilize the "in-in" formalism of Schwinger and Keldysh [1-20].¹ A recent proposal for analyzing infrared issues in the presence of interaction is to deal directly with the wavefunction for the fields of interest [24]. The technique of computing wavefunctions in cosmological spacetimes via analytic continuation from Euclidean signature was introduced earlier in [25]. Computing the wavefunction directly helps us understand how divergences in the wavefunction will feed into divergences of any type of observable. The simplest analogy for this point of view involves quantum mechanics: the hydrogen atom is a well-defined quantum system even though observables like $\langle 1/r^3 \rangle$ diverge. The wavefunction point of view makes clear precisely which observables will diverge and which ones are well-defined. A more relevant example is that of a massless scalar field in de Sitter space (in any dimension). The equal-time correlator $\langle \phi(x)\phi(y) \rangle \sim \log(|x-y|\Lambda)$ has a long-distance divergence which is regulated by some IR cutoff Λ . The resolution to this divergence is to

¹For a review of the in-in formalism, see [21, 22], and for a review of infrared effects in cosmology, see [23].

discard this as an unphysical (i.e. unobservable) correlation function. One should instead deal with observables like $\langle (\partial \phi)(x)(\partial \phi)(y) \rangle \sim \frac{1}{(x-y)^2}$ which tame the IR behavior.

An interesting extension of the perturbative corrections to the Bunch-Davies de Sitter wavefunction is to the one-parameter family of accelerating Bunch-Davies FRW wavefunctions. This is the extension we will explore in this note. Equal-time correlators of free scalar fields in the Bunch-Davies vacuum for accelerating FRW have IR divergences which increase as the acceleration slows. This is an infrared spectral tilt. In particular, de Sitter has the softest IR structure, with only a logarithmic divergence and scale-invariant spectrum. We will particularly be interested in the pattern of spatial and temporal IR divergences as a function of the acceleration upon including interactions. This may help give some insight into which values of the acceleration parameter lead to IR divergences which can be consistently understood in terms of some putative Q-space/QFT duality [26]. (See also [27–30].)

In [24], perturbative corrections to the Bunch-Davies de Sitter wavefunction of selfinteracting fields were found by calculating Witten diagrams in a fixed Euclidean AdS background and then performing an analytic continuation. We plan to follow a similar approach. As noted in [26], the FRW metric may be obtained by analytically continuing the metric of a Euclidean hyperscaling-violating geometry. Therefore, by computing Witten diagrams in a Euclidean hyperscaling-violating geometry and analytically continuing, we will have computed perturbative corrections to the Bunch-Davies wavefunction of selfinteracting fields in a fixed FRW background.

We will consider two cases in our calculations. The first example will be a massless scalar with $\lambda \phi^4$ self-interaction. We will compute the perturbative corrections to the wave-function at first order in λ , which constitutes evaluating tree-level and one-loop Witten diagrams. The second example will be a conformally coupled scalar field with general $\lambda \phi^n$ interaction. We will again compute the perturbative corrections to the wavefunction at first order in λ , which in this case constitutes evaluating all *L*-loop diagrams for $L = 0, 1, \ldots, \lceil n/2 \rceil - 1$.

In the rest of the introduction we will introduce and discuss the relevant geometries. In section 2 we will carefully build the diagrammatic expansion for the Bunch-Davies wavefunction for massless scalar fields with $\lambda \phi^4$ self-interaction and compute the tree-level and one-loop corrections to the wavefunction. In section 3 we will compute the tree-level and *L*-loop corrections to the wavefunction for a conformally coupled scalar with general $\lambda \phi^n$ interaction. We will stick to (3 + 1) dimensions throughout, while appendix A will treat the conformally coupled scalar in arbitrary dimension. Appendix B will present a non-minimally coupled scalar field theory with soluble wave equation that can also be analyzed.

The flat FRW geometries are given by

$$ds_{d+1}^2 = \ell^2 (-\eta)^{2\theta/(d-1)} \left(\frac{-d\eta^2 + dx_i^2}{\eta^2} \right), \quad i \in \{1, \dots d\}, \quad \eta < 0,$$
(1.1)

while the Euclidean hyperscaling-violating geometries [31, 32] are given by

$$ds_{d+1}^2 = \ell^2 z^{2\theta/(d-1)} \left(\frac{dz^2 + dx_i^2}{z^2} \right), \quad i \in \{1, \dots, d\}, \quad z > 0.$$

$$(1.2)$$

The analytic continuation from Euclidean signature (1.2) to Lorentzian signature (1.1) is achieved via the following transformation:

$$z \to (-i)(-\eta),\tag{1.3}$$

$$\ell \to (-i)^{1-\theta/(d-1)}\ell. \tag{1.4}$$

When $\theta = 0$, this is the usual connection between the de Sitter and Euclidean anti-de Sitter spacetimes. We will restrict ourselves to $\theta \leq 0$, which correspond to accelerating cosmologies and are regular as $z \to 0$.

A simple matter action which sources this background is a minimally coupled scalar with self-interacting potential:

$$S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left(R - 2(\partial \Phi)^2 - \frac{V_0^2}{\ell^2} e^{-\beta \Phi} \right) \,, \tag{1.5}$$

$$V_0^2 = \frac{1}{4}(d-1)(2-\theta)(d(2+\theta)-\theta), \qquad \beta = 2\sqrt{\frac{2\theta}{(d-1)(\theta-2)}}.$$
 (1.6)

The scalar field takes the on-shell value

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{\theta(d-1)(\theta-2)}{2}} \log(-\eta) \,. \tag{1.7}$$

For top-down constructions of such models, see e.g. [33, 34].

In the context of inflationary physics, such models fall under the class of "power-law inflation" [35]. The power law refers to the scale factor in synchronous coordinates $a(t) \sim t^q$ with q > 1. To linear order in the slow-roll parameters ϵ_{sr} and η_{sr} we have

$$\epsilon_{sr} \sim -\theta, \qquad \eta_{sr} \sim -2\theta.$$
 (1.8)

The simplest versions of these models are disfavored by recent data [36] (tuning θ to accommodate for the infrared spectral tilt leads to a tensor mode contribution which is too large), but they are useful due to their analytic solubility. The nonlinear stability of this system is shown in [37]. The particular matter theory which sources the FRW background will not, however, be important to us.

2 Massless self-interacting scalar

Consider a massless scalar field ϕ on the hyperscaling-violating background (1.2). This scalar is distinct from the scalar Φ from the previous section. We take the action to consist of the kinetic term and a ϕ^4 interaction which is treated perturbatively:

$$S[\phi] = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{\lambda}{24} \phi^4 \right).$$
(2.1)

The equation of motion of the free theory is

$$\partial_z \left(\sqrt{g} \, g^{zz} \partial_z \phi(z)\right) - \sqrt{g} \, g^{zz} k^2 \phi(z) = 0, \qquad (2.2)$$

where we are working in momentum space in the x^i directions. The general solution of (2.2) is given by

$$\phi(z) = c_1 \phi_1(z) + c_2 \phi_2(z), \quad \text{where}$$
(2.3)

$$\phi_1(z) = z^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} I_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz), \qquad \phi_2(z) = z^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz).$$
(2.4)

Here I and K are Bessel functions. To find the tree-level wavefunction, we need to find the on-shell action of the solution that is regular as $z \to \infty$ and satisfies Dirichlet boundary conditions at the cutoff surface $z = z_c \ll 1$. The Dirichlet boundary condition reads

$$\lim_{z \to z_z} \phi(z; \vec{k}) = \phi_{\vec{k}}, \qquad (2.5)$$

where $\phi_{\vec{k}}$ is some specified field configuration. The solution with this property is easily found:

$$\phi(z;\vec{k}) = \phi_{\vec{k}} \frac{z^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz)}{z_c^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_c)}.$$
(2.6)

Next, we compute the on-shell action, which is a functional of the boundary value of the field

$$S_{\text{on-shell}}[\phi] = \int d^d x \sqrt{g} g^{zz} \phi \partial_z \phi \Big|_{z=z_c}$$
(2.7)

$$= \int \frac{d^{d}k}{(2\pi)^{d}} z_{c}^{\theta+1-d} \phi_{-\vec{k}} \phi_{\vec{k}} \left(-k \frac{K_{\frac{2-d+\theta}{2}}(kz_{c})}{K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_{c})} \right).$$
(2.8)

The wavefunction is then determined as

$$\Psi_0[\phi] = \mathcal{N} \exp\left[-S_{\text{on-shell}}\right]. \tag{2.9}$$

Expanding this out for small z_c , we see that the piece which will give us the cosmological correlator is

$$\log \Psi_0 \sim -\int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \,\phi_{-\vec{k}} \phi_{\vec{k}} \,k^{d-\theta}.$$
 (2.10)

After analytic continuation via (1.3) and (1.4), this wavefunction satisfies the Schrödinger equation for the Hamiltonian of a free scalar field in the FRW background:

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} \left(-\frac{|\eta|^{d-1-\theta}}{\ell^{d-1}} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi_{-\vec{k}}} \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi_{\vec{k}}} + \frac{\ell^{d-1}}{|\eta|^{d-1-\theta}} k^2 \phi_k \phi_{-k} \right).$$
(2.11)

We now wish to incorporate self-interactions of the scalar and compute interaction corrections to the free wavefunction obtained above. Formally, to order λ , we have

$$\log \Psi[\phi] = \log \Psi_0[\phi] + \delta \Psi_{\lambda}^{(4)}[\phi] + \delta \Psi_{\lambda}^{(2)}[\phi] + \dots, \qquad (2.12)$$

$$\delta\Psi_{\lambda}^{(4)} = -\lambda \int \prod_{i=1}^{4} \frac{d^d k_i}{(2\pi)^d} \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}(\vec{k}_1, \vec{k}_2, \vec{k}_3, \vec{k}_4) \phi_{\vec{k}_1} \phi_{\vec{k}_2} \phi_{\vec{k}_3} \phi_{\vec{k}_4} , \qquad (2.13)$$

$$\delta\Psi_{\lambda}^{(2)} = -\lambda \int \prod_{i=1}^{2} \frac{d^{d}k_{i}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(2)}(\vec{k}_{1},\vec{k}_{2})\phi_{\vec{k}_{1}}\phi_{\vec{k}_{2}}.$$
(2.14)



Figure 1. Witten diagrams for the order λ contributions to the partition function in the Euclidean hyperscaling violating geometry, with ϕ^4 interaction. These corrections analytically continue to corrections of the wavefunction in FRW spacetimes.

The two corrections, $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}$ and $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(2)}$, come from the two Witten diagrams in figure 1. In order to compute these Witten diagrams, we need to derive the bulk-to-bulk and bulk-to-boundary propagators for the massless scalar field on the background (1.2). These propagators are then used to compute Witten diagrams.

2.1 Propagators

To construct the bulk-to-bulk propagator we need to identify the modes that diverge to plus and minus infinity as $z \to \infty$ [24]. These modes are just ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 respectively. The form of the bulk-to-bulk propagator is the following:

$$G(z,w;k) = \begin{cases} A\phi_1(z)\phi_2(w) + C\phi_2(z)\phi_2(w) & \text{for } w > z, \\ B\phi_2(z)\phi_1(w) + C\phi_2(z)\phi_2(w) & \text{for } z > w. \end{cases}$$
(2.15)

We will now impose various conditions on the propagator given above in order to determine the unspecified coefficients. First, we require that G(z, w, k) is continuous at z = w. This condition imposes that A = B. The second condition requires that as z increases through z = w, the first derivative $\partial_z G(z, w, k)$ decreases by $z^{d-\theta-1}$. This condition implies that $A = -\frac{i\pi}{4} \ell^{1-d}$. Finally, we enforce the Dirichlet boundary condition $G(z = z_c, w, k) = 0$ at the cutoff, which specifies C. The bulk-to-bulk propagator for w > z can finally be written as:

$$G(z,w;k) = \ell^{1-d} w^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} z^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} \frac{K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kw)}{K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_c)} \left(K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_c) I_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz) - K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz) I_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_c) \right).$$
(2.16)

To get G(z, w; k) for w < z, we simply swap z and w in the above equation.

We can obtain the bulk-to-boundary propagator via its relation to the bulk-to-bulk propagator:

$$K(z;k) = \sqrt{g(w)} g^{ww} \partial_w G(w,z;k) \Big|_{w=z_c}.$$
(2.17)

Plugging in for the expression obtained previously for $G(w, \vec{y}; z, \vec{x})$ we find that

$$K(z;k) = \frac{z^{\frac{a-\theta}{2}} K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz)}{z_c^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}} K_{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}(kz_c)},$$
(2.18)

an expression which could also have been obtained directly from (2.6).

2.2 Tree-level diagram for the four-point function

From now on we will work in d = 3 corresponding to a four spacetime dimensions. The tree level diagram (drawn on the left in figure 1) is given by

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}(k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4) = \int dz \sqrt{g} \, K(z; k_1) K(z; k_2) K(z; k_3) K(z; k_4).$$
(2.19)

The small z behavior of the bulk-to-boundary propagators is smooth and nonvanishing, and the singularities all come from the \sqrt{g} factor:

$$\int dz \sqrt{g} \sim \int dz \, z^{2\theta - 4} \sim z^{2\theta - 3} \,. \tag{2.20}$$

Doing the integrals for a generic value of θ and expanding for small z_c , we see that there are two power series in the expression for the tree level diagram. Schematically, we can write the two power series as follows:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}(k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4) \sim \ell^4 \left(z_c^{2\theta-3} + k^2 z_c^{2\theta-1} + k^4 z_c^{2\theta+1} + \dots \right)$$
(2.21)

$$+k^{3-\theta}z_{c}^{\theta}+k^{5-\theta}z_{c}^{\theta+2}+k^{7-\theta}z_{c}^{\theta+4}+\dots), \qquad (2.22)$$

where we have not written down the coefficients in front of any of the terms. We also use the generic notation k^{α} to refer to a homogeneous order α polynomial in the four variables $k_1, \ldots k_4$. Let us look at some special values of θ .

When θ is a negative odd integer, z_c^{θ} appears in the first power series. In this case, the second power series starts with $z_c^{\theta} \log z_c$. To be concrete, for $\theta = -1$, we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}(k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4) = \ell^4 \left(-\frac{1}{5z_c^5} + \frac{\sum_i k_i^2}{30z_c^3} + \dots \right) + \ell^4 \left(\frac{\sum_i k_i^4 \log(k_i z_c/2)}{20z_c} + \dots \right). \quad (2.23)$$

When θ is zero or a negative even integer, the second power series contains a $\log z_c$ term. The $\theta = 0$ case considered in [24] falls under this category where the second power series starts with $\log z_c$. To be concrete, for $\theta = -2$, we have

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)}(k_1, k_2, k_3, k_4) = \ell^4 \left(-\frac{1}{7z_c^7} + \frac{\sum_i k_i^2}{105z_c^5} + \dots \right) + \ell^4 \left(-\frac{\sum_i k_i^5}{126z_c^2} + c_1 \log z_c \dots \right).$$
(2.24)

The constant c_1 depends on the momenta. The expression is quite ugly, and therefore we have not written it down explicitly.

Our job now is to continue these Euclidean-signature calculations to our Lorentzian FRW metric. Let us emphasize that we do not subtract off the terms with inverse powers of z_c via holographic renormalization. This is because in the Lorentzian signature, they encode physical time-dependence of the wavefunction.

The analytic continuation to Lorentzian signature is achieved via the transformation in equations (1.3) and (1.4). In analytically continuing the first power series, the factor of $(-i)^{-2\theta}$ coming from the continuation of ℓ^4 combines with the $(-i)^{2\theta-3}$ from the first term to give $(-i)^{-3}$, which is independent of θ and purely imaginary. The step size is by two and so every term in the series is pure imaginary. In the second power series, the imaginary factors coming from the analytic continuation depend on θ . We get $(-i)^{-2\theta} \times (-i)^{\theta} = (-i)^{-\theta}$. Since $(-i)^{-\theta}$ has a real part for generic θ , this means that we get a contribution to $|\Psi|$.

In particular, for $\theta = -2$, the contribution from the second series in (2.24) is purely real and thus contributes to $|\Psi|$. Let us focus on the first term in the second series in (2.24). This term in UV-divergent since it has inverse powers of z_c . It is also a contact term in position space, which we can see by inverse Fourier transforming $\sum_i k_i^5$ to position space.

Thus, we see several situations where a local UV-divergent piece in the Euclidean calculation analytically continues to the magnitude of the wavefunction instead of its phase. This is one of the main messages of this paper.

2.3 One-loop diagram for the two-point function

In the $\lambda \phi^4$ theory at order λ , we also have a one-loop diagram, drawn on the right in figure 1. It evaluates to

$$\int_{z_c}^{\infty} dz \sqrt{g} K(z;\vec{k}) K(z;\vec{k}) \int \frac{d^3 p}{(2\pi)^3} G(z,z;p).$$
(2.25)

We first have to integrate G over the loop momentum p. A physical UV cutoff is imposed on the loop momentum p as

$$p_{\rm cutoff} = \frac{\Lambda}{z^{1-\theta/(d-1)}},\tag{2.26}$$

where the power of z is determined by the metric. Power counting establishes that this term is quadratically divergent

$$\int dp \, p^2 \, G(z,z;p) \sim z^{-\theta} \Lambda^2. \tag{2.27}$$

The two power series we get in this case for generic θ are

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(2)}(\vec{k}) = \ell^2 \Lambda^2 \Big(z_c^{\theta-3} + k^2 z_c^{\theta-1} + k^4 z_c^{\theta+1} + \dots + k^{3-\theta} \log z_c + k^{5-\theta} z_c^2 \log z_c + \dots \Big),$$
(2.28)

where again we have just exhibited the general structure and not written out the coefficients in front of any of the terms. The only z_c -divergent term in the second series is the first one. The special case to be noted is that when θ is a negative odd integer, $\log z_c$ appears in the first power series: in this case, the second power series starts with $(\log z_c)^2$.

The power of ℓ appearing in $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(2)}$ analytically continues as $\ell^2 \to \ell^2 \times (-i)^{-\theta}$. The factor of $(-i)^{-\theta}$ coming from the continuation of ℓ^2 combines with the $(-i)^{\theta-3}$ from the first power series to give $(-i)^{-3}$. The θ dependence in the analytic continuation cancels in the first series, as what happened for the tree-level case. The second series, in general, contributes divergent terms to the magnitude of the wavefunction.

Note that while we have exhibited the divergent structure of the loop diagram, it must be borne in mind that it is a tadpole diagram. Being a tadpole diagram, it can be exactly canceled by a counterterm in the original scalar action of the form

$$c\lambda \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \,\phi^2,$$

where we can tune the coefficient c sitting in front of this term.

3 Conformally coupled scalar

The conformally coupled scalar is a useful test case to consider due to its analytic solubility. The mode functions are directly related to those of de Sitter due to the conformal equivalence of the two backgrounds. The action for our conformally coupled scalar is given as

$$S = \int d^{d+1}x \sqrt{g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{d-1}{8d} R \phi^2 - \frac{\lambda_n}{n!} \phi^n \right)$$
(3.1)

and has the invariance $g_{\mu\nu} \to \Omega^2 g_{\mu\nu}$, $\phi \to \Omega^{(1-d)/2} \phi$. Picking $\Omega = z^{\theta/(d-1)}$ maps anti-de Sitter to a hyperscaling-violating spacetime, and the mode functions will therefore transform as $\phi \to z^{-\theta/2} \phi$. The wave equation of the free theory is given as

$$\left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\right) + \frac{d-1}{4d}R\right)\phi = 0, \qquad R = -\frac{d\left((d-\theta)^2 - 1\right)}{\ell^2(d-1)} z^{-\frac{2\theta}{d-1}}$$
(3.2)

with solution

$$\phi(z) = c_1\phi_1(z) + c_2\phi_2(z); \qquad \phi_1(z) = z^{\frac{-1+d-\theta}{2}} e^{kz}, \quad \phi_2(z) = z^{\frac{-1+d-\theta}{2}} \frac{e^{-kz}}{2k}.$$
(3.3)

Notice that the $\theta = 0$ case is related to the $\theta \neq 0$ case as advertised.

The bulk-to-bulk propagator is given as

$$G(z, w, k) = A\phi_1(z)\phi_2(w) + C\phi_2(z)\phi_2(w) \text{ for } w > z,$$
(3.4)

$$G(z, w, k) = B\phi_2(z)\phi_1(w) + C\phi_2(z)\phi_2(w) \text{ for } z > w,$$
(3.5)

$$B = A = \ell^{1-d}, \qquad C = -2k \, e^{2kz_c} \, \ell^{1-d}. \tag{3.6}$$

Altogether this gives the following bulk-to-bulk and bulk-to-boundary propagators:

$$G(z,w,k) = \frac{\ell^{1-d}}{2k} e^{-k(w+z)} \left(e^{2kz} - e^{2kz_c} \right) (wz)^{\frac{1}{2}(d-\theta-1)}, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$K(z, z_c) = \left(\frac{z}{z_c}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}(d-\theta-1)} e^{-k(z-z_c)}.$$
(3.8)

3.1 Tree-level diagram

Let us consider an arbitrary interaction ϕ^n for integer $n \ge 3$ in d = 3. The case of general $d \ne 3$ will be treated in appendix A. The tree-level diagram (drawn on the left in figure 1 but now with n legs going out to the boundary) evaluates to

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \int dz \sqrt{g} \prod_{i=1}^{n} K(z, k_i) = \ell^4 e^{k_{\Sigma_n} z_c} z_c^{2\theta - 3} E_{\left(-\frac{(n-4)(2-\theta)}{2}\right)}(k_{\Sigma_n} z_c), \quad k_{\Sigma_n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i.$$
(3.9)

(3.16)

for the exponential integral function $E_{(\nu)}(z) = \int_1^\infty dt e^{-zt}/t^{\nu}$. Expanding this general expression for small z_c , the divergent structure for $n \neq 3$ contains no logarithms and is as follows:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \ell^4 \Big(z_c^{2\theta-3} + k_{\Sigma_n} z_c^{2\theta-2} + \dots$$
(3.10)

$$+ k_{\Sigma_n}^{3-2\theta + \frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} z_c^{\frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} + k_{\Sigma_n}^{4-2\theta + \frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} z_c^{1+\frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} + \dots \bigg).$$
(3.11)

For even n and negative-odd-integer θ , or for odd $n \neq 3$ and vanishing or negative-eveninteger θ , the two series truncate to a finite number of terms:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \ell^4 \left(k^{3-2\theta + \frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} z_c^{\frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} + k^{4-2\theta + \frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} z_c^{1+\frac{n}{2}(\theta-2)} + \dots + z_c^{2\theta-4} / k \right).$$
(3.12)

The case of n = 4 for any θ is particularly simple:²

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(4)} = -\ell^4 z_c^{2\theta - 4} / k_{\Sigma} \,. \tag{3.14}$$

For the case of n = 3 we have logarithms appearing for negative-even-integer or vanishing θ :

$$\frac{\mathcal{M}_{\lambda,\theta=0}^{(3)}}{\ell^4} = -\frac{\gamma_E + \log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)}{z_c^3} - \frac{k_{\Sigma}}{z_c^2} \left(-1 + \gamma_E + \log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) - \frac{k_{\Sigma}^2}{4z_c} \left(-3 + 2\gamma_E + 2\log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) - \frac{k_{\Sigma}^3}{36} \left(-11 + 6\gamma_E + 6\log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) + \dots (3.15) \frac{\mathcal{M}_{\lambda,\theta=-2}^{(3)}}{\ell^4} = \frac{1}{z_c^7} + \frac{k_{\Sigma}}{z_c^6} (\gamma_E + \log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)) - \frac{k_{\Sigma}^2}{z_c^5} \left(-1 + \gamma_E + \log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) - \frac{k_{\Sigma}^3}{4z_c^4} \left(-3 + 2\gamma_E + 2\log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) - \frac{k_{\Sigma}^4}{36z_c^3} \left(-11 + 6\gamma_E + 6\log(k_{\Sigma}z_c)\right) + \dots$$

In this case, unlike the rest of the expressions in this note, we have explicitly displayed the numerical coefficients of the expansion. This is to illustrate the matching numerical coefficients appearing between the two series. The general structure for vanishing or negative-even-integer θ is

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda,\theta}^{(3)} = \ell^4 \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} z_c^{2\theta-3+i-1} k^{i-1} [c_i(\theta) + d_i(\theta) (\log(k_{\Sigma} z_c))^{m_i}], \quad m_i = \max\{0, i+\theta/2\}$$
(3.17)

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(2(d+1)/(d-1))} = -\ell^{d+1} z_c^{\frac{(d+1)(\theta-d+1)}{d-1}} / k_{\Sigma} .$$
(3.13)

²The expression takes this simple form because a quartic interaction in four dimensions preserves conformal invariance of the scalar field. Indeed, we can formally consider the classically scale-invariant interaction $\phi^{2(d+1)/(d-1)}$ in arbitrary dimension (formal since this is non-integer unless $d = 3, 5, \infty$). The entire answer in this case is

The numerical coefficient, which usually we ignore in our schematic expansions but restore here, is simply -1. Its independence of θ is related to the fact that n = 4 preserves conformality at tree level, and $\theta \neq 0$ is conformally related to $\theta = 0$.

for constants c_i , d_i satisfying the interesting relations $c_i(\theta) = -c_{i-\theta/2}(\theta-2)$ and $d_i(\theta) = -d_{i-\theta/2}(\theta-2)$, which relate different theories.

The first power series (3.10) looks just like the first power series for the massless scalar with ϕ^4 interaction (2.21), except in this case the step size is by single powers of z_c instead of z_c^2 . This means that the second, fourth, etc., terms in (3.10), which are local in position space, analytically continue to the *real* part of the wavefunction. Even for the renormalizable interaction ϕ^3 , for generic θ these local terms exist and continue to the real part of the wavefunction, and for negative-even-integer or vanishing θ the logarithms that appear contribute to the real part of the wavefunction as well. This contribution to the real part of the wavefunction from a local term in position space was noticed for $\theta = 0$ in [24].

3.2 One-loop diagram

Let us now consider the one-loop diagram drawn on the right in figure 1, but with n-2 legs going out to the boundary. We want to calculate

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n-2)} = \int_{z_c}^{\infty} dz \sqrt{g} \prod_{i=1}^{n-2} K(z,k_i) \int_{0}^{\Lambda \ell/z^{1-\theta/2}} d^3 p \, G(z,z;p) \,. \tag{3.18}$$

We first do the momentum integral of the bulk-to-bulk propagator to obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\pi z^{-\theta} \left(\frac{ze^{2\Lambda\ell z^{(\theta-2)/2}(z_c-z)}}{\ell^2(z-z_c)^2} \left(2\Lambda\ell z^{\theta/2}(z-z_c) - ze^{2\Lambda\ell z^{\frac{\theta}{2}-1}(z-z_c)} + z \right) + 2\Lambda^2 z^{\theta} \right). \quad (3.19)$$

There are different regularization procedures one can adopt at this point. We will keep the leading divergence Λ^2 and drop the rest, which is finite as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Although the finite piece can be kept and its contribution to the wavefunction calculated, it is subleading. Integrating the leading divergence against the n-2 bulk-to-boundary propagators gives us

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n-2)} = \pi \Lambda^2 \ell^4 e^{k_{\Sigma_{n-2}} z_c} z_c^{2\theta-3} E_{\left(\frac{1}{2}(n-6)(\theta-2)\right)}(k_{\Sigma_{n-2}} z_c) \,. \tag{3.20}$$

This is the same expression as for the tree-level diagram, except with $n \to n-2$. This is easy to understand: the quadratic divergence Λ^2 coming from the momentum integral over the bulk-to-bulk propagator is independent of z and z_c . Thus, the small z_c expansion is the same as in the tree-level case, after accounting for the shift $n \to n-2$. As mentioned in the case of the massless scalar field, these loop diagrams are tadpole diagrams and can be canceled by counterterms in the action.

3.3 *L*-loop diagram

We can generalize the results of the previous subsection to arbitrary loop order $L \leq \lceil n/2 \rceil - 1$, at first order in λ . Then we need to compute

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n-2L)} = \int_{z_c}^{\infty} dz \sqrt{g} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n-2L} K(z,k_i) \right) \int_{0}^{\Lambda \ell/z^{1-\theta/2}} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} d^3 p_i G(z,z;p_i) \right)$$
(3.21)

$$= (\pi \Lambda^2)^L \ell^4 e^{k_{\Sigma_{n-2L}} z_c} z_c^{2\theta-3} E_{\left(\frac{(\theta-2)(n-2L-4)}{2}\right)}(k_{\Sigma_{n-2L}} z_c).$$
(3.22)

This is the same as the tree-level answer, except with a divergent factor of Λ^{2L} and $n \rightarrow n - 2L$, as expected.

4 Conclusions

We have used the connection from [26] between Euclidean hyperscaling-violating spacetimes — which appear generically within holography for non-conformal branes — and accelerating FRW cosmologies to organize a perturbation theory for the Bunch-Davies wavefunction. This generalizes the procedure first discussed in [24].

One reason to focus directly on the cosmological wavefunction is the clarity of welldefined observables, as explained in the introduction. Another reason to focus on the cosmological wavefunction is that it plays a starring role in holographic duality. Some of the results of [24] where $\theta = 0$, for example the lack of logarithmic IR divergences for the spin-1 and spin-2 fields, can be understood and interpreted via the dS/CFT duality [25, 38, 39]. In particular, since gauge fields are dual to conserved currents, and logarithmic IR divergences can be interpreted as shifts in operator dimensions, the lack of divergences is simply the statement that the currents remain conserved and their anomalous dimensions therefore vanish. As any purported field theory dual to an FRW phase is not expected to be a CFT unless $\theta = 0$, there is no reason to expect these fields to be protected in a similar way. Certain perturbative wavefunctions, for example those of a conformally coupled scalar field or higher-spin fields, can potentially make contact with wavefunction calculations [40–45] in non-minimal higher-spin dS/CFT [46–48].

Besides elaborating on our proposal for calculating correlators in accelerating FRW spacetimes with a few concrete toy models, there are two conceptual upshots to our calculations. The first concerns an often-repeated folk theorem that divergences which are contact terms in position space in Euclidean signature analytically continue to phases of the wavefunction. This connection was first highlighted in the context of tree-level diagrams in dS_4 [25]. The examples considered in our work explicitly illustrate that this is not generally true. This should come as no surprise, and violations of this folk theorem already appeared at the level of perturbative interactions in dS_4 [24], but it seems to be a confusion that refuses to go away.

The second upshot is that the late-time and large-space infrared divergences of the Bunch-Davies wavefunction due to self-interactions worsen as the acceleration slows. Concretely, this means that as θ becomes more and more negative, the leading power-law term in the small- z_c expansion becomes more and more singular; see, for example, equations (2.21) and (3.10). This mirrors the fact that the large-space infrared divergences of the free theory worsen as the acceleration slows. This extreme infrared structure in the large-space correlation function has been shown to imply a fascinating ultrametric structure in the state space of a scalar field for $\theta = 0$ in [49, 50]. This ultrametric structure becomes sharper as the acceleration slows [26], i.e. as θ decreases, and the perturbative corrections indicate an analogous story. What this extreme infrared structure implies for a holographic dual theory remains an open question.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Dionysios Anninos, Tarek Anous, Daniel Green, Juan Maldacena, and Daniel Z. Freedman for stimulating discussions and comments. RM is supported by a Gerhard Casper Stanford Graduate Fellowship.

A Conformally coupled scalar in general dimension

A.1 Tree-level diagram

Let us consider an arbitrary interaction ϕ^n for integer $n \ge 3$ in general dimension. The tree-level diagram evaluates to

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \int dz \sqrt{g} \prod_{i=1}^{n} K(z, k_i) = \ell^{d+1} e^{k_{\Sigma_n} z_c} z_c^{\frac{(d+1)\theta}{d-1} - d} E_{(\nu)}(k_{\Sigma_n} z_c) , \qquad (A.1)$$

if
$$n > \frac{2(d^2 - \theta - d(1 + \theta))}{(d - 1)(d - 1 - \theta)};$$
 $k_{\Sigma_n} = \sum_{i=1}^n k_i, \quad \nu = -\frac{(d(n - 2) - n - 2)(d - \theta - 1)}{2(d - 1)},$ (A.2)

for the exponential integral function $E_{(\nu)}(z) = \int_1^\infty dt e^{-zt}/t^{\nu}$. Expanding this general expression for small z_c , the divergent structure is as follows:

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n)} = \ell^{d+1} \left(z_c^{\frac{(d+1)\theta}{d-1} - d} + k_{\Sigma_n} z_c^{1 + \frac{(d+1)\theta}{d-1} - d} + \dots \right)$$
(A.3)

$$+ k_{\Sigma_n}^{\nu-1} z_c^{\frac{n}{2}(1-d+\theta)} + k_{\Sigma_n}^{\nu} z_c^{1+\frac{n}{2}(1-d+\theta)} + \dots \bigg).$$
(A.4)

There are various special cases of this structure where the powers begin to coincide at some point in the two series. In these cases there are often cancellations and the series truncates at the first common power in the series.

A.2 *L*-Loop diagram

Our general answer is

$$\mathcal{M}_{\lambda}^{(n-2L)} = \int_{z_{c}}^{\infty} dz \sqrt{g} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{n-2L} K(z,k_{i}) \right) \int_{0}^{\Lambda} \left(\prod_{i=1}^{L} d^{d} p_{i} G(z,z;p_{i}) \right)$$

$$= \left((d-1) \Gamma \left(\frac{d}{2} \right) \right)^{-L} \ell^{d+1} \Lambda^{L(d-1)} \pi^{dL/2} e^{k_{\Sigma_{n-2L}} z_{c}} z_{c}^{\frac{(d+1)\theta}{d-1} - d} E_{(\nu)}(k_{\Sigma_{n-2L}} z_{c}),$$
(A.6)

$$\nu = \frac{(d-\theta-1)(d(2L-n+2)-2L+n+2)}{2(d-1)}.$$
(A.7)

In doing this calculation, we first do the momentum integral of the bulk-to-bulk propagator G and keep only the large-momentum divergence $\Lambda^{L(d-1)}$. This piece is independent of ℓ and z_c . As a result, the answer above, and therefore the small z_c expansion, is the same as in the tree-level diagram, except with the substitution $n \to n - 2L$.

B "Conformally massive" scalar

It is not possible to solve the wave equation for a massive scalar in FRW in closed form, so we cannot analyze the divergences for that case. However, we can instead consider modifying the coefficient of the nonminimal coupling $R\phi^2$ to be an arbitrary number which we will suggestively call m^2 even though it is dimensionless. In this case we can solve the wave equation:

$$\begin{split} \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}\left(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\right) + m^{2}R\right)\phi &= 0,\\ \implies \phi(\eta) = \eta^{\frac{d-\theta}{2}}\left(c_{1}J_{\nu}(-ik\eta) + c_{2}Y_{\nu}(-ik\eta)\right),\\ \nu^{2} &= \left(\left(1 - 4m^{2}\right)d^{3} + \left(\left(8m^{2} - 2\right)\theta - 1\right)d^{2} + \left(\theta(\theta + 2) - 4m^{2}\left(\theta^{2} - 1\right)\right)d - \theta^{2}\right)(4(d-1))^{-1}. \end{split}$$

Notice that this solution looks like that of a massive scalar in de Sitter. We can make the connection a little more precise. For massive scalars in de Sitter we have

$$\phi(\eta) = \eta^{d/2} \left(c_1 J_{\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{d^2 + 4\tilde{m}^2\ell^2}}(-ik\eta) + c_2 Y_{\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{d^2 + 4\tilde{m}^2\ell^2}}(-ik\eta) \right)$$
(B.1)

This means that for

$$m^{2} = -\frac{(-1+d)((3d-\theta)(d+\theta) + 16\tilde{m}^{2}\ell^{2})}{4d(-1+(d-\theta^{2})^{2})}$$
(B.2)

the two solutions are conformally related by a factor of $\eta^{-\theta/2}$, just as in the case of a massless scalar. In other words, for every value of the mass of the dS scalar, there exists a value of the "conformal mass" of the FRW scalar for which the two solutions are conformally related.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J.S. Schwinger, Brownian motion of a quantum oscillator, J. Math. Phys. 2 (1961) 407 [INSPIRE].
- [2] L.V. Keldysh, Diagram technique for nonequilibrium processes, Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 47 (1964) 1515 [INSPIRE].
- [3] K.T. Mahanthappa, Multiple production of photons in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 126 (1962) 329 [INSPIRE].
- [4] P.M. Bakshi and K.T. Mahanthappa, Expectation value formalism in quantum field theory.
 1., J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [5] P.M. Bakshi and K.T. Mahanthappa, Expectation value formalism in quantum field theory.
 2., J. Math. Phys. 4 (1963) 12 [INSPIRE].
- [6] E. Calzetta and B.L. Hu, Closed Time Path Functional Formalism in Curved Space-Time: Application to Cosmological Back Reaction Problems, Phys. Rev. D 35 (1987) 495 [INSPIRE].
- [7] M. Morikawa, Cosmological inflation as a quantum phase transition, Prog. Theor. Phys. 93 (1995) 685 [INSPIRE].

- [8] N.C. Tsamis and R.P. Woodard, Strong infrared effects in quantum gravity, Annals Phys. 238 (1995) 1.
- [9] N.C. Tsamis and R.P. Woodard, The Quantum gravitational back reaction on inflation, Annals Phys. 253 (1997) 1 [hep-ph/9602316] [INSPIRE].
- [10] N.C. Tsamis and R.P. Woodard, Matter contributions to the expansion rate of the universe, Phys. Lett. B 426 (1998) 21 [hep-ph/9710466] [INSPIRE].
- [11] V.K. Onemli and R.P. Woodard, Quantum effects can render w < -1 on cosmological scales, Phys. Rev. D 70 (2004) 107301 [gr-qc/0406098] [INSPIRE].
- [12] T. Prokopec, O. Tornkvist and R.P. Woodard, One loop vacuum polarization in a locally de Sitter background, Annals Phys. 303 (2003) 251 [gr-qc/0205130] [INSPIRE].
- [13] T. Brunier, V.K. Onemli and R.P. Woodard, Two loop scalar self-mass during inflation, Class. Quant. Grav. 22 (2005) 59 [gr-qc/0408080] [INSPIRE].
- T. Prokopec and R.P. Woodard, Production of massless fermions during inflation, JHEP 10 (2003) 059 [astro-ph/0309593] [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Collins and R. Holman, Renormalization of initial conditions and the trans-Planckian problem of inflation, Phys. Rev. D 71 (2005) 085009 [hep-th/0501158] [INSPIRE].
- [16] D. Boyanovsky, H.J. de Vega and N.G. Sanchez, Quantum corrections to slow roll inflation and new scaling of superhorizon fluctuations, Nucl. Phys. B 747 (2006) 25
 [astro-ph/0503669] [INSPIRE].
- [17] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, On Loops in Inflation, JHEP 12 (2010) 008
 [arXiv:0912.2734] [INSPIRE].
- [18] L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, On Loops in Inflation II: IR Effects in Single Clock Inflation, JHEP 01 (2013) 109 [arXiv:1203.6354] [INSPIRE].
- [19] G.L. Pimentel, L. Senatore and M. Zaldarriaga, On Loops in Inflation III: Time Independence of zeta in Single Clock Inflation, JHEP 07 (2012) 166 [arXiv:1203.6651]
 [INSPIRE].
- [20] S.B. Giddings and M.S. Sloth, Semiclassical relations and IR effects in de Sitter and slow-roll space-times, JCAP 01 (2011) 023 [arXiv:1005.1056] [INSPIRE].
- [21] S. Weinberg, Quantum contributions to cosmological correlations, Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 043514 [hep-th/0506236] [INSPIRE].
- [22] P. Adshead, R. Easther and E.A. Lim, The 'in-in' Formalism and Cosmological Perturbations, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 083521 [arXiv:0904.4207] [INSPIRE].
- [23] D. Seery, Infrared effects in inflationary correlation functions, Class. Quant. Grav. 27 (2010)
 124005 [arXiv:1005.1649] [INSPIRE].
- [24] D. Anninos, T. Anous, D.Z. Freedman and G. Konstantinidis, Late-time Structure of the Bunch-Davies de Sitter Wavefunction, JCAP 11 (2015) 048 [arXiv:1406.5490] [INSPIRE].
- [25] J.M. Maldacena, Non-Gaussian features of primordial fluctuations in single field inflationary models, JHEP 05 (2003) 013 [astro-ph/0210603] [INSPIRE].
- [26] E. Shaghoulian, FRW cosmologies and hyperscaling-violating geometries: higher curvature corrections, ultrametricity, Q-space/QFT duality and a little string theory, JHEP 03 (2014) 011 [arXiv:1308.1095] [INSPIRE].

- [27] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, *Holography for Cosmology*, *Phys. Rev.* D 81 (2010) 021301 [arXiv:0907.5542] [INSPIRE].
- [28] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, The Holographic Universe, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 222 (2010) 012007 [arXiv:1001.2007] [INSPIRE].
- [29] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Observational signatures of holographic models of inflation, in On recent developments in theoretical and experimental general relativity, astrophysics and relativistic field theories, proceedings of the 12th Marcel Grossmann Meeting on General Relativity, Paris, France, 12–18 July 2009, pp. 2315–2323 (2010). [arXiv:1010.0244] [INSPIRE].
- [30] P. McFadden and K. Skenderis, Holographic Non-Gaussianity, JCAP 05 (2011) 013 [arXiv:1011.0452] [INSPIRE].
- [31] C. Charmousis, B. Gouteraux, B.S. Kim, E. Kiritsis and R. Meyer, Effective Holographic Theories for low-temperature condensed matter systems, JHEP 11 (2010) 151 [arXiv:1005.4690] [INSPIRE].
- [32] L. Huijse, S. Sachdev and B. Swingle, Hidden Fermi surfaces in compressible states of gauge-gravity duality, Phys. Rev. B 85 (2012) 035121 [arXiv:1112.0573] [INSPIRE].
- [33] S. Hellerman and I. Swanson, Cosmological solutions of supercritical string theory, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 126011 [hep-th/0611317] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. Dodelson, X. Dong, E. Silverstein and G. Torroba, New solutions with accelerated expansion in string theory, JHEP 12 (2014) 050 [arXiv:1310.5297] [INSPIRE].
- [35] F. Lucchin and S. Matarrese, Power Law Inflation, Phys. Rev. D 32 (1985) 1316 [INSPIRE].
- [36] PLANCK collaboration, P.A.R. Ade et al., Planck 2013 results. XXII. Constraints on inflation, Astron. Astrophys. 571 (2014) A22 [arXiv:1303.5082] [INSPIRE].
- [37] H. Ringstrom, Power law inflation, Commun. Math. Phys. 290 (2009) 155.
- [38] A. Strominger, The dS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 10 (2001) 034 [hep-th/0106113] [INSPIRE].
- [39] E. Witten, Quantum gravity in de Sitter space, in Strings 2001: International Conference, Mumbai, India, 5–10 January 2001 [hep-th/0106109] [INSPIRE].
- [40] D. Anninos, F. Denef and D. Harlow, Wave function of Vasiliev's universe: A few slices thereof, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 084049 [arXiv:1207.5517] [INSPIRE].
- [41] D. Anninos, F. Denef, G. Konstantinidis and E. Shaghoulian, *Higher Spin de Sitter Holography from Functional Determinants*, *JHEP* 02 (2014) 007 [arXiv:1305.6321]
 [INSPIRE].
- [42] G. Conti and T. Hertog, Two wave functions and dS/CFT on $S^1 \times S^2$, JHEP 06 (2015) 101 [arXiv:1412.3728] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J.B. Hartle, S.W. Hawking and T. Hertog, No-Boundary Measure of the Universe, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 201301 [arXiv:0711.4630] [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Anninos, de Sitter Musings, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 27 (2012) 1230013 [arXiv:1205.3855]
 [INSPIRE].
- [45] S. Banerjee, A. Belin, S. Hellerman et al., Topology of Future Infinity in dS/CFT, JHEP 11 (2013) 026 [arXiv:1306.6629] [INSPIRE].

- [46] D. Anninos, T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Higher Spin Realization of the dS/CFT Correspondence, arXiv:1108.5735 [INSPIRE].
- [47] D. Anninos, R. Mahajan, D. Radičević and E. Shaghoulian, Chern-Simons-Ghost Theories and de Sitter Space, JHEP 01 (2015) 074 [arXiv:1405.1424] [INSPIRE].
- [48] C.-M. Chang, A. Pathak and A. Strominger, Non-Minimal Higher-Spin DS4/CFT3, arXiv:1309.7413 [INSPIRE].
- [49] D. Anninos and F. Denef, Cosmic Clustering, JHEP 06 (2016) 181 [arXiv:1111.6061]
 [INSPIRE].
- [50] D.A. Roberts and D. Stanford, On memory in exponentially expanding spaces, JHEP 06 (2013) 042 [arXiv:1210.5238] [INSPIRE].